
Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact 

the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting. 

 

 AGENDA 

Town of Hooksett Town Council 

Wednesday, November 4, 2020 at 6:00 PM 

 

  

A meeting of the Town Council will be held Wednesday, November 4, 2020 in the Hooksett Municipal Building 
commencing at 6:00 PM.  

Page 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
2. PROOF OF POSTING  
 
3. ROLL CALL  
 
4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
5. AGENDA OVERVIEW  
 
6. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
 6.1. Public hearing to accept the health insurance surplus of funds from 

HealthTrust FY2020 not to exceed $100,484.04 and NH Interlocal Trust (NHIT) 
FY2016 not to exceed $27,431.86 to the Town of Hooksett per RSA 31:95-b, 
III (a).  (see item 14.1 for details)  
11042020 HEALTH SURPLUS FUNDS PH 

3 

 
7. SPECIAL RECOGNITION  
 
 7.1. Hooksett Municipal Employee - New Hire   
 
8. SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS  
 
 8.1. Todd Rainier, Town Clerk and Cindy Robertson, Moderator - November 3, 

2020 Presidential Election    

 

 
 8.2. Cub Scout Pack 292 Little Library Project – Donation and Installation of Book 

Swap Boxes (see item 15.1 for details)  

 

 
9. CONSENT AGENDA  
 
 9.1. Motion to accept the donation of $4,770.00 from the Bureau of Justice 

Assistance; Patrick Leahy Bulletproof Vest Partnership, to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:91-b: III(b) and return 
the funds to the Police Department’s 2020-2021, 2021-2022 and/or 2022-2023 
fiscal budgets under the uniform equipment line.  
Staff Report - SR-20-203 - Pdf 

5 - 7 

 
10. TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT  
 
11. PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES  
 
12. NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS  
 
13. BRIEF RECESS  
 
14. OLD BUSINESS  
 
 14.1. Accept the health insurance surplus of funds from HealthTrust FY2020 not to 9 - 15 

Page 1 of 70



 

Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact 

the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting. 

exceed $100,484.04 and NH Interlocal Trust (NHIT) FY2016 not to exceed 
$27,431.86 to the Town of Hooksett per RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and motion on 
distribution of these funds.  
Staff Report - SR-20-205 - Pdf 

 
 14.2. CY2021 Health Insurance (medical & dental) (on 10/28/2020 Town Council 

Agenda; added to this agenda in the event it is continued from that meeting - 
see 10/28/2020 agenda packet for details)  

 

 
 14.3. Town Council Rules of Procedures - Amendments/Additions/Deletions (on 

10/28/2020 Town Council Agenda)  
Staff Report - SR-20-202 - Pdf 

17 - 59 

 
15. NEW BUSINESS  
 
 15.1. Cub Scout Pack 292 Little Library Project – Donation and Installation of Book 

Swap Boxes at Various Locations in Town  
Staff Report - SR-20-204 - Pdf 

61 - 67 

 
 15.2. Unassigned General Fund Balance History and Tax Rate  

Staff Report - SR-20-206 - Pdf 

69 - 70 

 
16. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 
17. SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 
18. PUBLIC INPUT  
 
19. NON-PUBLIC SESSION NH RSA 91-A:3 II  
 
20. ADJOURNMENT  
 
  PUBLIC INPUT 

1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council 
Meeting. Time will be divided equally among those wishing to speak, 
however,no person will be allowed to speak for more than 5 minutes. 

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any 
meeting.Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal 
or derogatory about any other person. 

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must 
be addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town 
Administrator, will determine if the question can be answered at that time. 
Questions cannot be directed to an individual Councilor and must not be 
personal in nature. Issues raised during Public Input, which cannot be resolved 
or answered at that time, or which require additional discussion or research, 
will be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible for researching 
and responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by 
bringing to the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting. The Chair 
reserves the right to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to 
deliberation. 

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a 
subsequent meeting.  

5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the 
Chair. Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted 
during Public Input. 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 70



TOWN OF HOOKSETT
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE

The Hooksett Town Council will be holding a public hearing on Wednesday, November 4, 2020 
@ 6:00pm at the Hooksett Town Hall Chambers, 35 Main Street, Hooksett, NH. The purpose of 
the public hearing is to accept the health insurance surplus of funds from HealthTrust FY2020 not 
to exceed $100,484.04 and NH Interlocal Trust (NHIT) FY2016 not to exceed $27,431.86 to the 
Town of Hooksett per RSA 31:95-b, III (a). For documentation or questions contact the 
Administration Department at 603-485-8472.

Agenda Item #6.1.

Page 3 of 70



Page 4 of 70



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Motion to accept the donation of $4,770.00 from the Bureau of Justice Assistance; 

Patrick Leahy  Bulletproof Vest Partnership, to the Town of Hooksett for the 
Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:91-b: III(b) and return the funds to the 
Police Department’s 2020-2021, 2021-2022 and/or 2022-2023 fiscal budgets 
under the uniform equipment line. 
 

Meeting: Town Council - 04 Nov 2020 
Department: Police Department 
Staff Contact: Jake Robie, Captain 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Bureau of Justice Assistance (BJA) has awarded the Hooksett Police Department under the 
Fiscal Year (FY) 2020 Patrick Leahy Bulletproof Vest Partnership (BVP) solicitation, $4,770.00.  The 
FY 2020 award will be used for National Institute of Justice (NIJ) compliant armored vests which were 
ordered after April 1st, 2020. The deadline to request payments from the FY 2020 award is August 
31st, 2022, or until all available funds have been requested. The grant covers 50% of the cost of each 
newly NIJ compliant "uniquely fitted vests" duty vest that our officers are required to wear during the 
course of their duty. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
None 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Accept the funds 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Motion to accept the donation of $4,770.00 from the Bureau of Justice Assistance; Patrick Leahy  
Bulletproof Vest Partnership, to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 
31:91-b: III(b) and return the funds to the Police Department’s 2020-2021, 2021-2022 and/or 2022-
2023 fiscal budgets under the uniform equipment line. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Concur 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

Agenda Item #9.1.

Page 5 of 70



BJA-BVP Status 
 
 

Agenda Item #9.1.

Page 6 of 70



Juri5dicfon's Ha ndbouk

STATUS

10/21/2020

This “Status“ page shows any pending actions that must be completed prior to program

deadlines. It also provides you with payment(s) status for tracking your requests for approved

funds.

~ Red 5'3indicate your attention is needed in order to complete a task for action.

CURRENT ACTIVITYSTATUS

Application I/Approvedby evp

AVAILALE AWARDS

T t l
Fiscal Award Total

0 a
Eligible

ATTN
A A

_ _ Requests
Year v Amount v Paid v

A
Balance ¢

2018 $3,577.50 $3,577.50 $0.00 $0.00

! 2019 $2,700.20 $311.91 $0.00 $2,448.29

2020 $4,770.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,770.00

hllpszl/gran(s.ojp.usdal.gov/bvp/vests/roles/1 urisdlcllnn/slalllsjsn

View Detai|§

Expiration

Date

11/30/2020

08/31/2021

08/31/2022

1/‘!

Agenda Item #9.1.

Page 7 of 70



Page 8 of 70



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Accept the health insurance surplus of funds from HealthTrust FY2020 not to 

exceed $100,484.04 and NH Interlocal Trust (NHIT) FY2016 not to exceed 
$27,431.86 to the Town of Hooksett per RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and motion on 
distribution of these funds. 

Meeting: Town Council - 04 Nov 2020 
Department: Administration 
Staff Contact: Donna Fitzpatrick, Human Resource Coordinator 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Town Council, at their meeting of 10/28/2020, received the following information: 
SURPLUS OF FUNDS - see back-up material 

1. HealthTrust FY2020 Surplus of Funds $100,484.04 
a. Divisions included in total - NHRS (retirees), Sewer and Town 

2. HealthTrust Board of Directors Resolution to Notify Members of the Expected Distribution of Surplus 
3. NH Interlocal Trust (NHIT) FY End 2016 Surplus of Funds $27,431.86 (NHIT was the Town's benefits advisor 

team in CY2016 & CY2017 for Harvard Pilgrim (medical) and Delta (dental) insurance plans for the Town of 
Hooksett) 

a. Divisions included in Total - NHRS (retirees), Sewer, Library, Town and Central Water Precinct & Village 
Water Precinct 

4. Council to determine distribution of funds from #1 & #3 above. 
a. Past practice for health insurance surplus is to prorate the funds and return to those employees for their 

% of contribution of the plan premium 
b. HealthTrust Board of Director Resolution (attached) "Member political subdivisions are experiencing 

significant financial pressures due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting recession" 
"surplus distribution could assist its Member political subdivisions with these financial pressures" 

c. Town of Hooksett incurred $1,924.30 in legal fees to initiate investigation into NHIT risk pool practices 
which led to NH Bureau of Securities Regulation resolution for more than 30 members of NHIT to receive 
surplus funds. Refund legal line for same amount from NHIT surplus. 

  
11/04/2020 Town Council: 
1) motion to accept the health insurance surplus funds same night after opening public hearing, public input and closing 
public hearing 
2) motion on how the health insurance surplus funds will be distributed after discussion from 10/28/2020 meeting 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 TBD pending outcome of 10/28/2020 & 11/04/2020 Health Insurance and Surplus of Funds review by 
Town Council 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
TBD pending outcome of 10/28/2020 & 11/04/2020 Health Insurance and Surplus of Funds review by 
Town Council 
 

Agenda Item #14.1.

Page 9 of 70



RECOMMENDATION: 
11/04/2020 Town Council: 
1) motion to waive Town Council Rules of Procedures and accept the health insurance surplus of funds same night as the 
public hearing  
2) motion to accept the health insurance surplus funds as scheduled to be discussed at 10/28/2020 Town Council Meeting 
3) motion on how the health insurance surplus funds will be distributed as scheduled to be discussed at 10/28/2020 Town 
Council Meeting 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
1) Motion to waive the Town Council Rules of Procedures and accept the health insurance surplus of 
funds the same night as the public hearing 
2) Motion to accept the health insurance surplus of funds from HealthTrust FY2020 not to exceed 
$100,484.04 and NH Interlocal Trust (NHIT) FY2016 not to exceed $27,431.86 to the Town of 
Hooksett per RSA 31:95-b, III (a). 
3) Motion to distribute the HealthTrust FY2020 not to exceed $100,484.04 as 
follows_____________________ 
4) Motion to distribute the NH Interlocal Trust (NHIT) FY2016 not to exceed $27,431.86 as follows 
_________________ 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Hear and discuss the options of distributing these two surplus funding sources. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
2020 HEALTHTRUST Return of Surplus 
HealthTrust Board Resolution - Surplus of Funds 
NHIT FY END 2016 SURPLUS OF FUNDS 
 
 

Agenda Item #14.1.

Page 10 of 70



October 13, 2020

Mr. Andre Garron
Town of Hooksett
35 Main Street
Hooksett, NH  03106

Dear Mr. Garron:

On October 6, 2020, the HealthTrust Board of Directors formally approved the organization’s Fiscal Year 2020 
audited financial statements and declared a return of surplus to Member Groups in the amount of $18,786,984.  

This surplus will be distributed to Member Groups that participated in HealthTrust’s self-insured coverage lines 
(medical, dental and/or short-term disability) during the 2020 Fiscal Year in proportion to their respective 
contributions for such coverages.  Enclosed is information by coverage line regarding your Member Group’s share 
of the return of surplus.  Please note, your Member Group’s share of the return will be sent by check on 
November 19, 2020, unless you request a contribution holiday, in writing to healthtrust-ed@healthtrustnh.org, 
by October 30, 2020, in which case your Member Group’s return of surplus will be applied to your December 
2020 invoice, issued in late November 2020.

Your return of surplus is one of the benefits of Membership in HealthTrust.  Each year we retain only the amount 
needed to pay for claims, administration and reserves.  Any amounts above that are returned to Member Groups 
as surplus.  This year ’s return of surplus is due, in large part, to the impact of COVID-19.  As a result of the 
pandemic and the related stay at home orders, many covered individuals cancelled or deferred non-emergency 
medical and dental care which led to a significant and unanticipated reduction in HealthTrust’s claims activity 
during the fiscal year resulting in this return of surplus to our Member Groups.   

Reports are now available, on the Secure Member Portal (SMP), detailing the enrollment numbers and 
contributions on which your Member Group’s share of the return of surplus was determined.  These reports can 
be accessed on the SMP by your Member Group’s designated Benefits Administrator.   

Please know that HealthTrust is here for you, our Members, during these challenging times.  The Board and staff 
remain committed to providing you with exceptional support, responsive member service, innovative health and 
wellness programs, and a full range of plans to meet your Member Group’s and employees’ needs for high 
quality, cost-effective health, dental and disability coverages and programs.

Sincerely,

Cathy Ann Stacey, Chair
HealthTrust Board of Directors

Wendy Lee Parker, Executive Director
HealthTrust  

Enclosures

Agenda Item #14.1.

Page 11 of 70



Town of Hooksett

FY2020 HealthTrust Return of Surplus

Your Member Group’s share of the total FY2020 Return of Surplus declared by the HealthTrust Board 
of Directors on October 6, 2020:

Coverage Expected Amount
Medical $94,812.84
Dental $5,671.18
Total $100,484.02

Detailed breakdown by Medical Billing Group:
Medical Billing Group Name Expected Amount

HOOKSETT NHRS $10,642.20
HOOKSETT SEWER $6,273.68
HOOKSETT TOWN $77,896.96

Medical Billing Group Total $94,812.84

Detailed breakdown by Dental Billing Group:
Dental Billing Group Name Expected Amount

HOOKSETT NHRS $456.11
HOOKSETT SEWER $516.63
HOOKSETT TOWN $4,698.44

Dental Billing Group Total $5,671.18

The return of surplus will be distributed as a check on November 19, 2020 unless a Contribution 
Holiday is requested in writing by October 30, 2020 to healthtrust-ed@healthtrustnh.org.  Requested 
Contribution Holidays will be reflected on the December 2020 invoice, issued in late November 2020.

Agenda Item #14.1.

Page 12 of 70



Resolution to Notifv Members of the Expected Distribution of Surplus:

WHEREAS, the COVlD—l9 pandemic and the related Stay at Home l-EmergencyOrders have resulted in a signi?cant
reduction in HealthTmst‘s coverage claims during the last four months ofFY2020;

WHEREAS, this reduction in claims has resulted in a projected but as of now, unaudited FY2020 total net position of
approximately Sl08.8 million;

WHEREAS, l-lealtliTnist’s independent consulting actuary, Millirnitn,using a sound actuarial methodology has
recommended that as of June 30, 2020, HeiilrhTrust set its Capital Adequacy Reserve Target at between 390 million and
S140 million (depending on how much ?exibility it has to raise nttes in the future);

VVIIEREAS, based on the Milliman recommendation, the Board of Directors voted to set HealthTrust’s Capital Adequacy
Reserve Target as of June 30, 2020 at $90 million.which results in a projected, but unaudited excess surplus for FY2020 of
$18.8 million;

WHEREAS, purstitint to RSA 5—B:5(I)(c)Healtl‘iTn1st is required to “retum all earnings and surplus in excess of any
amounts required for administration, claims.reserves, and purchase of excess insurance to the participating political
subdivisions”;

WHEREAS, the amount ofexcess surplus that must be so returned is to be based on the year—endaudited ?nancial
statement;

WI-ll-ZREAS,HealthTrust‘s FY2020 audited ?nancial statement will not be available prior to October 6, 2020 and once
available, the audited ?nancial statement may indicate an amount ofexeess surplus for FY2020 that differs from the amount
of excess surplus projected at this time;

WHEREAS, Health [ rusr"s Member political subdiv ions are experiencing signi?cant ?nancial pressures due to the impacts
ofthe COVlD—l9 pandemic and the resulting recession;

WHEREAS, HealthTrusi’s distribution of its FY2020 excess surplus distribution could assist its Member political
subdivisions with these tinancizil pressures,

WHEREAS, many ofHeitlthTi1ist’s Member political subdivisions will only be able to maximize the positive impact of
HealtliTrust‘s distribution of FY2020 excess surplus it‘ they are able to account for such funds by September l, 2020 in time
for their annual filing with the Department ol'Re\ eriue Administration (DRA);

W1-IEREAS,l-lealthlrust may inform Members ofthe expected FY2020 return of surplus prior to the availability of
I-lealthTiust‘s FY2020 audited tinancial statement and in time for its Member politieiil subdivisions to include the expected
FY2020 retum ofsurplus in their scpieiiih.-i i, 2020 riiiiig with the DRA, and

Wl-IEREAS, l-lealthTrust will determine the exact amount of the FY2020 distribution of excess surplus after it receives its
FY2020 audited ?nancial statement which is anticipated to be on October 6, 2020:

NOW, THFRF/FORE, on August 7. 2020, the Board ofDirectors ofllealtlilriist, liic. (the“Board") hereby adopts the
following resolutions:

1. RESOLVED, the Board, hereby declares that it expects the amount of FY2020 surplus it will distribute to
Members pursuant to Section 5.1 and 5.2 ofthc Bylaws after it receives the audited financial statement on
October 6, 2020 to be approximately 513.3 million which it expects to distribute i‘tm0i'lgSl its Mciiibers who
participated in HealthTrust"s medical, dental ztndlor shorbterm disability coverage liiies during l-Y2020 in
proportion to each Vlembers’ l'€SpCCtlVe contributions for such co\ erages; and

II. FURTHER RESOLVED. that prior to September l, 2020, l-lealthTrust staff shall notify each :\lcmber of
the iiiiimim of FY2020 surplus it is expected to rcceite as part the expected iciiim Ofsllrplus together Will] It

statement that the ?nal amount of FY2020 surplus to distributed will be determined after the audited
?nancial statement is accepted by the Board on October 6. 2020, and that the ?nal amount of FY2020
surplus to be distributed may be more or less than the amount expected (Subject to final audit adjustment).

Agenda Item #14.1.

Page 13 of 70



NEW HAMPSHIRE‘ P0B0><4090

INTERLOCALRUST C°"‘°
é3é."2'3a‘7333§888.960.6448

fax 800.229.6902

September 24,2020

RE: New Hampshire lnteriocal Trust Return of Funds

Dear Town of Hooksett,

We hope this letter finds you and your employees in good health in these difficult times.

Enclosed you will find an lnterlocal Trust check in the amount of $27,431.86 representing Town of
Hooksetfs share ofsurplus of health insurance contributions paid by Members over expenses for Fiscal
Year Ending 2016.

The Interlocal Trust had the pleasure to serve Town of Hooksett from January 1, 2016 to December 31,
2017.

The lnterlocal Trust's mission, with its n0t»for—profit insurance partner Harvard Pilgrim, aims to deliver
the highest quality health care to our members through unique and engaging wellness initiatives and
outstanding customer service provided by a knowledgeable and dedicated team.

We strive to be New Hampshire's most trusted partner in health and wellness bene?ts for our State's
public sector employees and their families.We do this by being true to our members, being the leading
innovators in risk pooling, implementing cutting—edge technologies and philosophies and being
forthright about our intentions.

Even though Town of Hooksett does not currently participate in our program we hope that you and your
employees have enjoyed the summer.

We look forward to an opportunity in the future to serve you again.

Sincerely,

62¢;/cl” C .
/

Albert C. Jones
Trust Administrator

HEALTH INSURANCE FOR LOCALGOVERNMENTS

Agenda Item #14.1.

Page 14 of 70



?~'WM’u‘m'f?"-mm.-I

EASTERN BANK
BEDFDRU, NH 031 (O9 NEW HAMPSHIRE INTERLOCALTRUST INC. 5*'7“/‘’3PO BOX 4090

CONCORD,NH 03302-4090
9/1/2020

z are9% Town of Hooksett [ $ *‘27,431.86?nb‘/
TWemy_SeVenThousand Foul.Hundred Thim/_Qne and 36,100.........,.m...,....*,.....,..m.m....................m...,..

2 %
Town of Hooksetr
35 Main Street
Hooksett, NH 03106

/%/n¢
,,Surplus Payment

—

—'

l|'DC]E‘i|.‘iII' I:ULL3DL?“lE|: LU LDLE|uE3l.II'

NEW HAMPSHIRE INTERLOCAL TRUST INC./POBOX 4090

Town of Hooksett
9/1/2020 005949

27,431 56

Eastern Bank - Bank Surpius Payment
27,431.86

HAMPSHIRE MANTHE3+.ER NH 030 L34l.
’d.OCAL RUST 25 SEP 2020 PM 3 L _ $

1 i

)0

H 03302

Agenda Item #14.1.

Page 15 of 70



Page 16 of 70



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Town Council Rules of Procedures - Amendments/Additions/Deletions (on 

10/28/2020 Town Council Agenda) 
Meeting: Town Council - 04 Nov 2020 
Department: Administration 
Staff Contact: Donna Fitzpatrick, Human Resource Coordinator 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
THIS ITEM IS ON THE 10/28/2020 TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA.  DUE TO COUNCIL MEETINGS SCHEDULED ONE 
WEEK APART, THIS ITEM IS BEING RE-ADDED TO THE 11/04/2020 AGENDA IN THE EVENT A SECTION(S) IS 
NOT REVIEWED 0N 10/28/2020. 
  
The Town Council annual workshop agenda of August 12, 2020 listed the following Town Council Rules of Procedures to 
review for amendments/additions/deletions, however due to length of discussion on other subject matters at this 
workshop, these items pended until the October 28, 2020 Town Council meeting:  
Town Council Rules of Procedures   

a. Review Process for Section 13 Procedure for Town Administrator Annual Evaluation (to include form) 
b. Develop a Process for Donation of items to Town 

o Consent Agenda section of Council Agendas 
o Town Charter Section 7.4 Acceptance of Gifts and Gratuities 
o Chapter 15-B Gifts, Honorariums, and Expense Reimbursements 

c. Review Process for Section 6 Debate 
d. Develop a Process of Tabling Items, Rescinding Votes & Reconsidering Votes 
e. Develop a Process for Town Council to Receive Additional Information on an Agenda Item(s) after receiving their agenda 

packet and prior to or at the Council meeting 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None known at this time. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
TBD based on Council review of their rules of procedure 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Review rules of procedures and make amendments/additions/deletions as appropriate.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Motion to approve Town Council Rules of Procedures  - example:  a __Town Administrator Annual 
Evaluation Process_ to amend XXXXX steps or amend XXXXX form. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
These are items that were not decided in the Council's annual workshop 
 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 17 of 70



ATTACHMENTS: 
TC Rules TC Approved 091119 
Rules of Procedure Title Pages 
 
 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 18 of 70



Town of Hooksett  

Town Council Rules of Procedures 

Adopted as of:  01/10/2001 

Amended as of:  09/11/19 

 

 

Resolved by the Town Council of the Town of Hooksett, NH that the following be and hereby are adopted as 

the Rules of the Hooksett Town Council.  

 

1. The Following Rules shall be adopted by a majority of the Hooksett Town Council and these 

rules shall become effective immediately upon their adoption. 

a. Robert’s Rules “Parliamentary Law at a Glance” by E.C. Utter should be used as a guide 

when proper procedure is in question except where modified herein. 

b. Acceptable Procedure is determined by the acting Chair.  

 

2. Procedures for electing officers are as follows: 

a. Annually, at the first meeting of the new Town Council:  

1. The Town Clerk shall swear-in all new Councilors as a group. 

 

Note:  The Town Administrator shall act in the role of Council Chair from July 1
st
 until 

such time the new Town Council has their first meeting to choose their Chair, Vice Chair 

and a Secretary.  The Town Administrator, as acting Council Chair, shall lead this meeting 

through Town Council Reorganization – Part I. 

 

The members thereof shall: 

2. Choose, from among their members, a Chair, a Vice Chair and a Secretary.  In 

addition to the powers conferred upon the Chair, the Vice Chair and the 

Secretary, they shall continue to have all the rights, privileges and immunities of 

a member of the Town Council. 

3. Motion that the Town Council confirms by a roll call vote, that the Town of 

Hooksett will adopt RSA 31:104, 31:105 and 31:106 to provide immunity and 

indemnify all Town Councilors, other elected officials, employees, agents as 

well as appointed officials that serve on committees and boards within the Town 

of Hooksett; specifically covering immunity from civil liability for discretionary 

acts, according to RSA 31:104, indemnification for costs of defense of civil 

suits, according to RSA 31:105 and indemnification for civil rights claims, 

according to RSA 31:106. 

4. Motion to have the Town Council Chair sign ancillary documents as agent to 

expend as a result of Town Council prior approval of the documents. 

5. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete the Council’s section of the 

Annual Report. 

6. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete & sign Tax Deed Waivers. 

7. Motion to adopt the Town Council Rules of Procedures. 

8. Motion to adopt the Administrative Code (which includes the Investment and 

Fund Balance Policies). 

9. Motion to adopt the Family Services Guidelines. 

10. Motion to have the Tax Collector sign payment plans for deedable properties. 

11. Motion to have the Town Administrator approve payment plans for deedable 

properties (Town Administrator cannot forgive interest or principal). 

12. Motion to have a Councilor work with Administration to coordinate the annual 

Town Council Old Home Day booth and Employee Appreciation Picnic  

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 19 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 2 
b. The above election shall be by majority vote of the Town Council present at the first 

meeting. 

c. Duties of Officers 

1. Chair:  

a. The Chair with the Town Administrator shall post all meetings and set 

meeting agenda. 

b. Lead all meetings in an orderly manner using these procedures, Hooksett’s 

Town Charter, Riggins Rules and Parliamentary Law as guides for 

appropriate protocol. 

2. Vice Chair:  

a. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair shall conduct the Council 

Meeting until such time as the Chair is present.  

3. Council Secretary:  

a. The Council Secretary shall be responsible for recording the attendance of 

Council members by roll call at the beginning of each meeting. 

b. The Council Secretary shall be responsible for polling and recording all roll 

call votes.  

c. If the Council Secretary is absent, the chair shall ask for a volunteer.  If 

there is no volunteer, the Chair shall appoint a Council member to act as 

Council Secretary until such time as the Council Secretary is present.  

d. The Town Council Secretary shall act as clerk of the Council and shall 

review and approve (with or without edits) the draft (unofficial) minutes of 

the meeting recorded by the Recording Clerk. If there is no Recording 

Clerk present at meeting, the Town Council Secretary will be asked to keep 

minutes. Minutes will appear in the Town Council agenda packet. Minutes 

shall be posted on the Town website. 

e. The Town Council Secretary shall perform such other duties in the meeting 

as may be requested by the presiding officer of Council. 

f. In case of the absence of the Chair and the Vice Chair the Council 

Secretary shall call the Council to order and act as Chair. 

 

3. Council Meetings  

a. The Council shall meet in regular session on the 2
nd

 and 4
th

 Wednesday of every month, 

except as noted on Town Calendar, at 6:00pm.  When time permits, a regular meeting may 

be adjoined to a workshop session.  

b. The place of meetings shall be the Council Chambers unless otherwise designated.  

c. A quorum of the Council for the transaction of any business shall be two-thirds (2/3) of 

the members currently in office. The Council shall not recognize a Councilor’s electronic 

method(s) of participation, attendance, or quorum.  

d. The Council reserves the right to end meetings at 9:30.  The Council shall motion to 

extend public session meetings past 9:30pm as follows “motion to extend public session 

until meeting is adjourned”. Uncovered business will be included in the next meeting 

agenda.  Meeting may be closed by a 2/3 roll call vote. 

e. The Council may meet for an informal workshop session or special meetings by Council 

vote on an as needed basis, in accordance of Section 3.5 C of the Town Charter.  The 

place of meeting shall be the Council Chambers.  

f. When, after consultation with the Vice Chair and the Town Administrator, the Chair 

determines that the Council has insufficient business to warrant a meeting, the Chair may 

cancel said meeting after informing all councilors and receiving individual approval from 

2/3 of the council members and shall not be inconsistent with the meeting provisions of 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 20 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 3 
the Town Charter.  Agenda items scheduled for a meeting that is canceled shall be 

carried over to the next regular meeting. 

g. Council members shall be seated in Council Chambers as determined by consensus of the 

Council. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be seated at the head of the Council table in 

Chambers.  The Secretary shall be seated next to the Town Council Recording Clerk. 

h. Council members, staff and members of the general public participating in meetings shall 

address all questions or remarks through the Chair confine their remarks to the merit of 

pending questions; and shall not engage in personalities.  

i. Any member may leave the Council Chambers while in regular session after notice to the 

Chair of pressing business providing there is no loss of quorum as determined by the 

Chair. 

 

4. Town Employees 

a. The Town Administrator will attend all regular meetings or request representation from a 

Town Department to attend in their place. 

b. The Town Administrator shall be responsible for providing the Council with necessary 

background information on all items of business before the Council.  

c. The Town Administrator may have the head of any department or division or other 

employee of the Town in attendance at any meeting when items within their responsibility 

or knowledge is being discussed.  All questions shall be directed to the Town 

Administrator who may, when necessary, defer to a department head or employee.  Staff 

should be made aware of all items on the agenda to be ready to discuss items in respect to 

their department or area of responsibility. 

 

5.  Voting 

a. Councilors may read suggested motions from staff reports to assure key elements of 

motions do not get missed. 

b. If a vote is immediate after a motion, the motion does not need to be repeated unless 

requested by a Councilor or staff. 

c. If there is a discussion after a motion, the motion should be repeated prior to the vote of 

the Council to assure all Councilors and the public are aware what is being voted on. 

d. Every member present, including the Chair, when a question is put shall vote either aye 

(yes) or nay (no) or abstain and give reason for abstaining, in accordance with the Town 

Charter. 

e. Council Members wishing to abstain from voting shall so indicate and give reason for 

doing so.  

f. All votes shall be voice votes unless determined to be a roll call vote. 

g. Roll call votes should be used anytime there is a motion based on 1) a public hearing item, 

2) any monetary item over $10,000 and 3) at the request of any Councilor for any matter. 

h. Roll call votes shall be in a random order with the Chair voting last.   

 

6. Debate  

a. Council members must raise their hand to be recognized by the Chair. 

b. Rules of Debate on all motions shall be as follows: 

1. The council member, who introduces a motion, may speak to that motion.  

Thereafter, every council member may speak to the motion two times only.  The 

sponsoring Council member may also address the motion two times, thereby 

allowing the sponsor the right to address his or her their motion a total of three 

times.  

2. If by 2/3 vote it is determined additional discussion is needed each council 

member may only speak an additional 2 times on a motion. 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 21 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 4 
3. Decorum in debate: In order to assist in the carrying out of debate in an orderly 

and productive manner, Council members shall:  

a. Address all questions and remarks through the Chair. Do not address 

audience or council members.  

b. When commenting on another Councilor’s statement or question, identify 

the speaker, statement and when the statement was made.  

c. Confine remarks to the merits of the pending question. 

d. Not engage in personalities or question the motives of other Councilors.  

c. Any member who wishes to force an end to debate must first obtain the floor by being 

duly recognized to speak by the chair and must then move the Previous Question.  Such a 

motion must be seconded, and then adopted by a two-thirds vote, or by unanimous 

consent.  It is not in order to interrupt a speaker with cries of “Question” or “Call the 

question.”, and even if no one is speaking, it is still necessary to seek recognition. 

 

 

7. Order of Business 

 

The Town Council shall follow the below agenda order whenever possible for ease of 

transcription, audience participation and possible time restraints.  The Council Chair, during the 

Agenda Overview, will inform the audience of any change in the agenda order for a particular 

meeting. 

  

a. Agenda Order of Council Meetings 

I. Call to Order 

II. Proof of Posting 

III. Roll Call 

IV. Pledge of Allegiance 

V. Agenda Overview 

VI. Public Hearings 

VII. Special Recognitions 

VIII. Scheduled Appointments 

IX. Consent Agenda 

X. Town Administrator’s Report 

XI. Public Input 

XII. Nominations/Appointments 

XIII. Brief Recess 

XIV. Old Business 

XV. New Business 

XVI. Approval of Minutes 

XVII. Subcommittee Reports 

XVIII. Public Input 

XIX. Non-Public Session NH RSA 91-A:3 II  

XX. Adjournment 

b. Public Input 

1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council 

Meeting.  Time will be divided equally among those wishing to speak; however, 

no person will be allowed to speak for more than 5 minutes.  

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any meeting.  

Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal or 

derogatory about any other person. 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 22 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 5 
3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must be 

addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town 

Administrator, will determine if the question can be answered at that time.  

Questions cannot be directed to an individual Councilor and must not be 

personal in nature.  Issues raised during Public Input, which cannot be resolved 

or answered at that time, or which require additional discussion or research, will 

be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible for researching and 

responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by bringing to 

the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting.  The Chair reserves the right 

to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to deliberation. 

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a 

subsequent meeting.  

5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the 

Chair.  Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted during 

Public Input. 

c. Nominations for all Board and Committee applicants may be made during the 

nominations/appointments portions of the Council meeting. Boards and Committees shall 

receive their respective applications and make recommendations for nominations. 

Appointment vote for a nominee will be scheduled at the next Council meeting.  

Nominations and appointments for new July terms shall be at the June Town Council 

meetings. 

d. Scheduled Appointments 

1. A scheduled appointment shall have one person as a speaker when possible and 

follow the rules for addressing the Council. 

2. A scheduled appointment shall not exceed 15 minutes to address the Council 

unless the Council votes to extend. 

3. Board and Committee applicants shall be invited to attend a Council meeting as 

a scheduled appointment to state their interest.  This meeting shall be either prior 

to or on the same night of their nomination. 

4. Boards and Committees shall meet at minimum once a year as a scheduled 

appointment to provide an overview of their activities and member attendance 

reports. 

e. Old Business 

1. Business carried over from a previous meeting.  

f. New Business 

1. New Business should be submitted to the Town Administrator or Council Chair.  

2. New Business submitted by end of business two Thursdays before a regular 

meeting may be considered for the next meeting by request. The Chair may 

schedule the topic on the Agenda under New Business as the schedule allows.  

Any new business brought forward at a council meeting shall not be acted upon 

at that meeting except by a motion to waive this rule by vote of 2/3
rd

 of the 

members present.   

3. New Business submitted after end of business two Thursdays preceding a regular 

scheduled meeting will be considered for the next meeting agenda unless time 

sensitivity is determined by Town Administrator or Chair. 

8. Non-Public Session 

a. The Council Chair shall motion for the appropriate non-public session section of NH RSA 

91-A:3 II (a – l) when entering the non-public session based on the subject matter as 

previously discussed with the Town Administrator. This motion must be seconded by a 

Councilor and have a roll call vote with the majority in the affirmative.  This by no means 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 23 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 6 
restricts any Town Councilor from motioning to go into non-public session with the 

appropriate citation. 

b. The Council shall motion to exit in non-public. In public session a motion is made to seal 

the minutes of the non-public session as appropriate. 

c. Non-public sessions do not require motions to extend the meeting past 9:30pm. 

d. A councilor not present at the time non-public session minutes are taken shall receive 

these sealed minutes along with the rest of the Council.  

e. Non-public minutes, per RSA 91-A:3, shall include the names of members, persons 

appearing before the public bodies, and a brief description of the subject matter discussed 

and final decisions. Minutes are not verbatim. 

f. Non-public minutes and/or material in possession of Town Councilors at a Council 

meeting shall be handed into Administration at the end of the meeting for shredding of 

confidential information. 

g. All sealed non-public meeting minutes (discussions and materials included) are 

confidential until such time these minutes are unsealed. 

h. Unsealing of the non-public session minutes for the current fiscal year 

(June 1
st
 to May 31

st
) shall occur annually at the Council’s last meeting in May when, in 

the opinion of a majority of members, the circumstances that sealed the minutes no longer 

apply in accordance with RSA 91:3 III. 

9. Filing Agenda items 

a. Every item of business to come before the Council for action must be filed with the Town 

Administrator or Council Chair no later than end of business two Thursdays prior to the 

regular Council Meeting. 

b. The Agenda shall be posted by the close of business on the Wednesday prior to the regular 

Council Meeting. 

c. It shall be the duty of the Town Administrator to mail by first class postage said agenda 

and any available supporting documents to each Councilor (if not already picked-up) by 

Thursday of the week prior to the regular Council Meeting unless a Councilor requests, in 

writing, to receive it in electronic format only. 

 

10. Addressing the Council     

a. Persons other than members of the Council shall not be permitted to address the Council 

except during the designated agenda Public Input or by invitation of the Chair.  

b. A time limit for addressing the Council may be established by the Chair.  

c. The speaker shall not enter into a debate with any person, the Chair or Council members. 

  

11. Amendment To Rules 

a. Council rules may be suspended by a 2/3-majority vote of all Council members.  The 

purpose for suspension must be clearly stated before the vote is taken and 2/3 of all 

Council members must declare the matter one of such priority that it would be detrimental 

to hold over until the next regular Council Meeting.  

b. The rules may be amended or new rules adopted by a 2/3 vote of all members of the 

Council. Any such proposed alteration or amendment by any Councilor shall be submitted 

in writing at a regular Council Meeting under the order of new business. 

 

11. Community Outreach 

a. The Council Chair has the authority to act on the Council’s behalf to present and/or sign 

letters of achievement for community outreach to include but not limited to Town of 

Hooksett departments, businesses, residents, and volunteer or membership groups.  This 

authority is for times when the community outreach happens off-schedule to Town 

Council meetings. 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 24 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 7 
 

12. Procedure for Adoption of Ordinances pursuant to Section 3.6 of the Charter.  

 

a. Prior to a Council member introducing an ordinance, the Council shall discuss the contents 

which may include editorial revisions and textual modifications. An ordinance needing 

revisions based on this discussion will be brought back to the Council in a final format at their 

next scheduled meeting. The final version of an ordinance shall be introduced by one 

Councilor for a public hearing at the Council’s next scheduled meeting. No second to a 

motion and/or vote is required to move an ordinance to a public hearing. The Council shall 

not take final action on any proposed ordinance until at least seven (7) days after said public 

hearing(s).  

 

b. After the public hearing the Council shall put the proposed ordinance in final form, which 

may include editorial revisions and textual modifications resulting from the proceedings of 

that hearing. An additional public hearing shall be held if the ordinance is substantively 

altered by the Town Council after public hearing. Subsequent public hearings shall be held at 

least 14 days after the prior public hearing and with the notice provided in Section 3.5 (A) of 

the Charter. The Council shall not take final action on any proposed ordinance until at least 

seven (7) days after said public hearing(s).  

 

13. Procedure for Town Administrator Annual Evaluation 

 

a. Council’s first meeting in May – Council will receive Town Administrator’s self-evaluation to include status 

on his/her goals with comments for period ending June 30
th

 of the same fiscal year along with a blank 

evaluation form. 

b. Council’s second meeting in May = Councilors are to complete and submit the Town Administrator 

evaluation form via e-mail to the Council Chair and cc: Administrative Services Coordinator (or hand deliver 

to same at meeting). 

c. First week in June = Administrative Services Coordinator and Council Chair consolidate each Councilor’s 

Town Administrator evaluation data into one report. 

d. Council’s first meeting in June – Councilors to review consolidated Town Administrator evaluation report 

for edits. 

e. Council’s second meeting in June – Councilors and Town Administrator to receive Town Administrator 

evaluation report in agenda packet and review at this meeting. 

f. Council’s annual July/August Workshop meeting – New council to establish goals for new fiscal year. 

 

 

14. Standing Moment of Silence 

a. The Council Chair may call a moment of silence for the deceased with ascent of the Town 

Council at the beginning of the meeting 

 

  

 15. Special Recognition 

a. Special Recognition may include but is not limited to: 

 Hooksett Youth Achiever of the Month 

 Boston Post Cane Recipient 

 Retiring employees 

 Longevity employees (at Council’s last regularly scheduled meeting each 

September) 

 

16. Town Administrator’s Report 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 25 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 8 
a. New hires will be invited and encouraged to attend the Council meeting following 

his/her hire date when the Town Administrator will announce his/her Department, name 

and start date.” 

 

17. Approval of Minutes 

a. Public minutes, per RSA 91-A:3,  shall include the names of members, persons appearing 

before the public bodies, and a brief description of the subject matter discussed and final 

decisions.  Minutes are not verbatim. 

b. Public minutes shall be posted (open to public inspection) not more than 5 business days 

after the meeting.  These minutes, per RSA 91-A:3, shall be treated as permanent records 

of any public body. 

c. Councilors, public or staff identifying corrections to Town Council minutes shall submit 

their corrections to the Town Council Secretary on or before the start of the meeting 

scheduled for review.  Corrections do not include changing or adding wording not stated 

at the meeting. 

d. The Council Chair, at the “Approval of Minutes” agenda section, will request the 

following motion “Councilor #1 motion to approve the public minutes of Date.  Seconded 

by Councilor #2.” 

e. The Council Chair shall inquire with the Town Council Secretary for any corrections to 

the minutes; Secretary will read the corrections into the record, if applicable.  

f. If there are corrections to the minutes, amend 17d motion above “Councilor #1 I amend 

my motion to add “as corrected”.  Seconded by Councilor #2.” 

g. A vote of 17d or 17f above is taken (roll call not required). 

h. If changes are to be made to minutes (17b above), changes are detailed in the minutes of 

the subsequent meeting.  As the minutes are being prepared for permanent storage in 

paper format, the Town Clerk will add a notation to the permanent record of the first 

meeting that corrections were made, and give an exact reference to the page where the 

changes appear in the minutes of the subsequent meeting.  

18. Public Hearings 

a. The Town of Hooksett follows the NH State statutes (RSAs) and Town Charter in 

determining when a public hearing is required for agenda items before the Town 

Council.   

 
Below are the items that require public hearings (these have a public notice in the Union Leader): 

 New or amended Town Ordinances -  notice is per Chapter 231:132-a of the NH Revised Statutes 

annotated, and section 3.6 of the Hooksett Town Charter 

 New or amended Town Charter – notice is per NH RSA 49-B:5 

 Accept Donation/Grant/Reimbursement of Funds over $10,000 – notice per RSA 31:95-b, III (a)  (ex. 1) 

NHDOT Bridge Aid funds reimbursement for the Benton Road Culvert project, 2) FEMA funds for the 
reimbursement of February 8

th
, 9

th
, & 10

th
 2013 severe snowstorm expenses,  3) New Hampshire Highway 

Safety Agency grant to allow for 18 DWI/DUI overtime patrols) 

 Accept Donation of Property over $5,000 – notice per RSA 31:95 e, II   (ex. Catholic Medical Center in 

Manchester NH to the Hooksett Fire-Rescue Department and the Town of Hooksett in the amount of 
$14,500.00 (Physio-Control LUCAS 2 device) 

 New or amended Hazard Mitigation Plan  

 Town Roadway Improvements – (ex. project alternatives for the roadway improvements design(s) at the 

Hooksett Hackett Hill Road and Rte. 3A intersection)   

 Discontinuance of Class VI Town Roadway  

 Conservation Easements – notice is per NH RSA 36-A & NH RSA 477:45-47 
Note:  Land use items require 10 day prior public notice in Union Leader and all other items require 7 days.  

 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 26 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 9 
Public Hearings not required, however Town may conduct out of courtesy (these do NOT have a public 

notice in the Union Leader): 

 Establishing Town Roadway Speed Limits 

 Renaming Town Roadways - (ex. Water Works Drive, Hooksett, NH for the closed off portion/loop of 

Industrial Park Dr. that will be closed off due to the GE Expansion) 

 Potential Departmental Reorganizations   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 27 of 70



10/28/2020

Town Council

Rules of Procedure

(a) Town Administrator Annual
Evaluation Process

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 28 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 29 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 7

12. Procedure for Adoptionof Ordinances pursuant to Section 3.6 of the Charter.

a. Prior to a Council member introducing an ordinance, the Council shall discuss the contents
which may include editorial revisions and textual modi?cations. An ordinance needing
revisions based on this discussion will be brought back to the Council in a ?nal format at their
next scheduled meeting. The ?nal version of an ordinance shall be introduced by one
Councilor for a public hearing at the Council‘s next scheduled meeting. No second to a
motion and/or vote is required to move an ordinance to a public hearing. The Council shall
not take ?nal action on any proposed ordinance until at least seven (7) days after said public
hea.ring(s).

b. After the public hearing the Council shall put the proposed ordinance in final form, which
may include editorial revisions and textual modi?cations resulting from the proceedings of
that hearing. An additional public hearing shall be held if the ordinance is substantively
altered by the Town Council after public hearing. Subsequent public hearings shall be held at
least 14 days after the prior public hearing and with the notice provided in Section 3.5 (A) of
the Charter. The Council shall not take ?nal action on any proposed ordinance until at least
seven (7) days after said public hearing(s).

13. Procedure for Town Administrator Annual Evaluation

Councills first meeting in May~ Council will receive Town Administrator’s self-evaluation to include status
on his/her goals with comments for period ending June 30”“ofthe same ?scal year along with a blank
evaluation form.

. Council’s second meeting in May : Councilors are to complete and submit the Town Administrator
evaluation form via e-mail to the Council Chair and co: Administrative Services Coordinator (or hand deliver
to same at meeting).

. First week in June = Administrative Services Coordinator and Council Chair consolidate each C0uncilor’s
Town Administrator evaluation data into one report.

. Council"s ?rst meeting in June — Councilors to review consolidated Town Administrator evaluation report
for edits.
Council’s second meeting in Jun — Councilors and Town Administrator to receive Town Administrator
evaluation report in agenda packet and review at this meeting.
Council’s annual July/August Workshop meeting — New council to establish goals for new ?scal year.

14. Standing Moment of Silence
a. The Council Chair may call a moment of silence for the deceased with ascent ofthe Town

Council at the beginning of the meeting

15. Special Recognition
a. Special Recognition may include but is not limited to:

- Hooksett Youth Achiever of the Month
- Boston Post Cane Recipient
0 Retiring employees
0 Longevity employees (at Council’s last regularly scheduled meeting each

September)

16. Town Administrator’s Report

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 30 of 70



Tow of Hooksett
Town Adm stralor Evaluati ri

Town Administralo - Name
Check one: _x Annual Evaluation n7roiIxxxx—o6r3o/xxxx

other (explain)

lnatmcllons:. Each Town Cauncilorwili receive an evaluation form from Human Resources This Wllltie
di?ererit from the farms used ior supervisors or employees. vwthina llmeframe speci?ed. complete the form and provide the information to the Tawn Council

Chair. \Mthtn a tirnefianie speci?ed the Council chair willcompile the documents, average all scores,

and wrrte a summary of all comments received on a single evaluation form. This summary will be returned to the Town Council for overall discussion and reviewed with the
Town Administrator

Rating. The following raling scale will be used to rate ail subsections in each category
1 = Unacceptable — Unsatisfactory performance

conditionai - Requires improvement
Satisfactory - Meets Town Council expectations
Exoeouonai- eeneiaiiy axoeeds Town Councils expectations

5 = Outstanding - Substantially exoeeds Town Caunclls expectations

categories Subsections in each category to be rated
1 Management Objecllves
2. Communlcahuns
3. operations
A Lang Range Pianning

Categcm 1 - Management Ob'ectivss. Please rate on the following subsections for
Management Objectives. The Tawn Administrator provides leadership, timely updates
and prudent advice on Town matters; gives effective assistance to the Town Council and
other committee's as appropriate; promotes coor ination and cooperation among the
Town’; ?nancial departments; and, develops capital and operating budgets in line with
sound municial rac?ce and the Town's - laws.

Biidgei Developmenl

i Rating commens.
i EXBCUIS E well-organized budget 1idevelopment process i
~ i
L Y,

i

Budge| updates
i Rating comments

Provide reguiar updates on operating
and capital budget

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 31 of 70



Departmental Cooldlnallon

E?eclive coordination among Town
Departments

L

Conhnue to ?nd ways to enhance
slafi support for and relationships with
trie committees and boards of the
Tcrwn

L,

Town nwiiou property

‘ Work to create a database a! Town
owned land/propeny

. - l
Conimirtcr: cooruiiiaiioii

Rating
i Comments

Rating Ccmmen?

Rating Comments

i Rating Comrriens
Etrecnve stewardship oi Town cnarler
and applicable NH RSA’s

[
,A,

1relationships with agencies or other
Town's, the State of NH and the u s
Go»/emmenl with the objectives.l . reviswjnalyzeiiepresenl

i and present the posmonaf
the Town and Council
relative to impiementea and
proposed legislation and
government policies and
regulations i. Pursue funding opbominities

\ in support of Town priorities i

and policy goals
stay abreast orand perrorrri
search invotving
governmental legisiarian,L policies and regulatians

Canduct the Tawn‘s Business In an
open and transparent manner‘ i
malnfaifi credibility with the media aria i

i geileralpuhllq i

.. i
W

i

Strive ho establish posmve working Rating Ccmmenm ‘

Rating Comments.

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 32 of 70



Rating comments
Pursue iunoing opportunities in
support oi Tomi pnoritres and policy
goals

Categom 2 - Communications. Please rate on the following subsections for
Communicatians. The Town Adm nistrator maintains and improve: communications
witn the public and among Town committees and departments, identi?es and pursues
opportunities for effective puolic communications, and is responsive to public and
of?cial in uiries.

Cammenis
Timely riou?cauori issues tnat require
Board atterioon or acuon. i

i
i ,

Public Coinnilmtcalton
ensurepublic communication, svcii Rating comments
as website and newsletter. is timely 1
and comprehensive‘ including out not

‘

limited to working wnri Town stair to ‘

assign responsibility and oversee \
regular updates and continue i 1
enriancement of tne Tawn's

i
J

capabilities with regard (D012 websrte,
‘includingperiodically checking to

ensure all links are working,‘
i inionnauoii is uotooate, etc 1

Goals and ooiectives upoaies

i , Rating comments

;Regularly communicate progress on i
l Goais and Obyectlves to Tc/wri1 i
i council Ii

Categclg 3 - operations. Please ramon the following subseclio s tor operations. The
Town Administrator ioen es opportunities to improve product: innovation, staff
development and cost eflic encies; promotes a po ve work environment, encourages
accountability and cooperation witliin and oetween departments. and provides status
re orts while workin to iurtriermaor meets and initiatives.

Rating i comments
Identity and propose speci?c areas to }
improve productivity‘ service and cost
ei?clerlcy

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 33 of 70



Rating comments‘Propose staft development, training

i and aocoiintaoility initiaoves ,

l l l

Ratlng Comments
iAchieve goals within prescrinea

timeiines ,

‘l , l
c,

..

Deteaialioii
Rating Comments.

‘ Delegate responsibility (0 department

‘heads and start as appropriate

\

Categom A - Long Range F|ann'ng Please me on the Iollowing subsections tor Long
Range Planning. The Town Aumi ' rator participates in the strategic planning process,
and acts in a way to protect the long-term tinancial, social, economic and environmental
interests of the community. Coordinates development efforts to involve appropriate
ooards, do rtments, and the iiotic.

Maslel Plan
Rating comments.

l Implement action steps in the Master
Plan

L‘
F

,
W7

71
strategic Planning

Rating Comments.
Pamcipate in me next phase ofi

‘strategic planning as necessary
i

Work wnh the Energy commission to
research ano implement energy-

i savlng improvements for Town-owned
property and equipment

\
e

e ,4 ,
i,

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 34 of 70



Bicentennial celebvanon

Work closely wrth the Town Hall
Preservation Commmee mmme goal
of completing renuvauons(or the‘
7awn‘s bicentennial oenemanonm;
2922 1

Hea?h Ca re

1Couaborale with meSchool District In
‘leverage health care purcnasmg

power xfpossime

lmermnmclpal Compact lnmalvve

RSA 53-A auowslawns/mumcmalmes
to work tngether to purchase services

and macenas for potential cost
savings for an Research passmle
couaborauve efforts with other towns.

Ratmg Comments

Raung Comments

Town Admlmsllatov Specmc Achlevemelns

Town Adm meGoals

GOALS FOR JULV1 xxx UNE 30 XXXWILL BE ESTABLISHED AT THE cgyNcI S AQGUST
ANNQALwgRKsHoP

Goal 1

Goa! 2

Goa! 3

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 35 of 70



Comments:

Town Councilor Date

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 36 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 37 of 70



10/28/2020

Town Council

Rules of Procedure

(b) Donation of Items to Town

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 38 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 39 of 70



and speculative that people of ordinary capacity and intelligence would not be
influenced by it. Further, a conflict of interest shall not arise where an of?cer or
employee is acting in his/her legislative capacity.

D. When uncertainty arises as to the application of this section to an elected or
appointed of?cer or employee of the Town in particular circumstances, upon the
request of any member, the committee, commission or board shall vote on the
question of whether that member should be disquali?ed. Any such request and
vote shall be made prior to or at the commencement of any required public
meeting, or in the event that the uncertainty arises during a meeting, as soon as
possible thereafter.

Sec. 7.3. Private Use of Town Property and Personnel.

No elected or appointed officer or employee shall devote any Town property or
labor to private use except as may be provided by authority of the Council.

Sec. 7.4. Acceptance of Gifts and Gratuities.

’> No elected or appointed of?cer or employee of the Town shall solicit or accept
any gift or gratuity which could, in any manner, be construed to affect or influence the
performance of his of?cial duties.

Sec. 7.5. Disposition of Fees.

No elected or appointed of?cer or employee of the Town shall collect any fees,
salaries or other payments in connection with his of?cial duties for his own use, except
as provided for by ordinance or state law

Sec. 7.6. Misuse of Information.

No elected or appointed officer or employee of the Town shall utilize or dispense
information gained through said of?ce or employment for his or another's personal pro?t.

l ARTICLE 8
Citizen Concerns; Initiative Petition; Referendum; Recall

Sec. 8.1. Citizen Concerns.

A. individual citizen concerns shall be directed to the Administrator to be relayed to
the appropriate departmeni(s) or individual(s) for consideration.

Z0

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 40 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 41 of 70



9

CHAPTER I5-B GIFTS, HONORARIUMS, AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS Page 1 of5

TITLE I
THE STATE AND ITS GOVERNMENT

CHAPTER 15-B
GIFTS, HONORARIUMS, AND EXPENSE

REIMBURSEMENTS

Section 15-B:1

15-Bzl Purpose. — The purpose ofthis chapter is to ensure that the performance of official duties
does not give rise to a con?ict of interest, by prohibiting certain gifts and by requiring certain persons
to file with the secretary of state a report of any honorariums or expense reimbursements received.
This chapter shall be liberally construed to effect this purpose.

Source. 2006, 21:9, eff. June 2, 2006.

Section 15-B22

15-B:2 Definitions. —

For the purposes of this chapter:
1. "Agency" means the executive branch and any department, division, board, commission, or
equivalent entity of the executive branch.
II. "Constitutional official" means the secretary of state, the state treasurer, their deputies, assistants,
and all employees of their departments.
III. "Elected official" means the governor, members of the executive council, county commissioners,
county sheriffs, county treasurers, county attorneys, registers of deeds, and registers of probate.
IV. "Expense reimbursement"shall mean any price, charge, fee, expense, or other cost which is
waived, forgiven, reduced, prepaid, or reimbursed in any form for the reasonable expenses of
attendance, registration, travel, meals, or lodging related to a bona fide conference, meeting, seminar,
or educational or informational program, when the source of such reimbursementis other than the
state, a county, or the United States of America.

- (V. (a) "Gift" means:
(1) Money in any amount, whether in the form of cash, check or any other negotiable or non-
negotiable instrurnentality for the transfer of money.
(2) Any other tangible thing, intangiblething, service, or the use thereof having more than
insigni?cant economic value. Any such item with a value of less than $25 is presumed to be of

A’:insignificant economic value._
(b) Notwithstanding subparagraph (a), "gift" shall not include:
(1) A political contributionas de?ned in RSA 664.
(2) A commercially reasonable loan, made in the ordinary course of business.
(3) Repayment to an elected official, public official, public employee, or constitutional official of a
bona fide loan made by such a person.
(4) A ceremonial plaque, award, or other commemorative object, which is personally inscribedto the
recipient and which has inconsequentialeconomic value.,l2%ceremonial object or award with a value
of $150 or less is presumed to be of inconsequentialeconomic valuea

https://wwwgencourt.state.nh.us/rsa./html/I/15-B/15—B-mrg.htm 7/30/2020

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 42 of 70



CHAPTER 15-B GIFTS, HONORARIUMS, AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS Page 2 of 5

(S) Objects or services which primarily serve an informational purpose provided in the ordinary
course of business, such as reports, books, maps, or charts.
(6) Money in any form, an object, or any tangible or intangible thing or service of economic value,
where the donor's act of giving is purely private and personal in nature and the money, object, or

tangible or intangible thing or service of economic value would have been given and received even if
the person were not an electedcf?cial, public official, public employee, or constitutional official.
(7) Wages, salary, bene?ts, mileage, or payment for expenses received by the person in his or her
regular course of employment or business which is unrelated to the government position held.
(8) Wages, salary, bene?ts, mileage, or payment for expenses paid to theperson by the state, a

county, or the United States of America related to performance of official duties.
(9) Tickets or free admission to a charitable, ceremonial, or political event provided that:
(A) The proceeds of the event are subject to the political contributions and expenditure reporting law,
RSA 664; or
(B) The event is sponsored by a charitable organization that is registered with the division of
charitabletrusts, department of justice, or which is a charitable organization pursuant to section 501
(c)(3) of the federal tax code.
(10) Meals, beverages, lodging, or transportation associated with attendance at:

(A) Any event for which the primary significance is ceremonial or celebratory, providedthe event is
public or, if by invitation only, is planned to have an attendance greater than 50 people; or

(B) Any event where the person is attending in an official capacity representing the state or the
agency of which the person is a member.
(11) Expense reimbursement or an honorarium.
(12) Meals and beverages consumed at a meeting or event, the purpose of which is to discuss official
business.
(13) Monetary or non-monetary awards or recognition issued under the suggestion and extraordinary
service award programunder RSA 99-E.
VI. "I-Ionorarium" means a payment in any form to an elected official, public official, public
employee, or constitutional official for an appearance, speech, written article or other document,
service as a consultant or advisor, or participation in a discussion group or similar activities.
Honorariurndoes not include a payment for such activities for which the person is being compensated
by the state, a county, the United States of America, or any other employer or client, where the
activity giving rise to the honorarium is not related to or associated with any public office or

government employment.
VII. "Family member" shall mean any person related to and living in the same domicile as the elected
official, public official, public employee, or constitutional official who shares a common economic
interest in the expenses of daily living, including, but not limited to, a spouse, child, or parent.
VIII. "Publicemployee" means any person, including but not limited to a classified or non»c1assificd

employee or volunteer, who conducts state business on behalf of the govemor, any executive branch
official, or agency.
IX. "Public official" means a commissioned, unclassified, or nonclassi?ed executive branch
employee, but shall not include any commissioned, unclassified, or nonclassified employee elected by
the legislature.
X. "Value" means the amount at which property or services would change hands between a willing
buyer and a willing seller when neither is under any compulsion to buy or sell and both have
reasonable knowledge of the relevant facts.

Source. 2006, 21:9. 2007, 354224. 2008, 89:1. 2009, 203:6, eff. Sept. 13, 2009. 2016, 328211, eff.
Dec. 7, 2016.

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/htrnl/I/15-B/l5~B-rnrg.htm 7/30/2020

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 43 of 70



‘CHAPTER 15-B GIFTS, HONORARIUMS, AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS Page 3 of 5

Section 15-B:3

15-B13Prohibition on Gifts. —

I. It shall be unlawful to knowingly give any gift as defined in this chapter, directly or indirectly, to
any elected official, public official, public employee, or constitutional official.
II. It shall be unlawful to knowingly give any gift as defined in this chapter, directly or indirectly, to
any family member, as de?ned in this chapter, of any elected official, public official, public
employee, or constitutionalofficial with a purpose of in?uencing or affecting the official conduct of
such official or employee.
111.No elected official, public official, public employee, or constitutionalofficial shall knowingly
accept, directly or indirectly, any gi?, as de?ned in this chapter.

Source. 2006, 21:9, eff. June 2, 2006. 2016, 328212, eff Dec. 7, 2016.

Section 15-B:4

15-B24Limitation on Receipt of an Honorarium. — No public official or public employee shall
accept an honorarium from a person who is subject to or likely to become subject to or interested in
any matter or action pending before, or contemplated by, the public official, public employee, or the
governmental body with which that person is affiliated.

Source. 2006, 21:9, eff. June 2, 2006.

Section 15-B:5

15-B25 Expense Reimbursement. — An elected official, public official, public employee, or
constitutional official may accept expense reimbursement for the reasonable expenses for attendance,
registration, travel, meals, and lodging for a bona tide conference, meeting, seminar, or educationalor
informational program which the person attends and that is related to the office, position, or
employment held with the state or county, provided that the person attaches to the disclosurereport a
copy of the agenda or an equivalent document which discloses the subjects addressed and the time
schedule of all activities at the event. This provision shall not be construed to require reporting of an
expense reimbursementmade by an organization to which the state or county pays dues, when the
prepayment, underwriting or reimbursementis provided because of the dues paid.

Source. 2006, 21:9. 2007, 354:5, eff. Sept. 15, 2007. 2016, 328213, eff. Dec. 7, 2016.

Section 15-B:6

15-B26 Duty to Report. — An elected official, public official, or public employee who receives an,
honorariumor expense reimbursementshall file a report with the secretary of state no later than the
last day of the month following the month during which the honorarium or expense reimbursement
was received.

Source. 2006, 21:9. 2007, 354:6, eff. Sept. 15, 2007. 2016, 328214, eff. Dec. 7, 2016.

Section 15-1327

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/I/15-B/15-B-mruhtm 7/30/2020

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 44 of 70



CHAPTER 15-B GIFTS, HONORARIUMS, AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS Page 4 of 5

15-B:7 Honorariurn, or Expense Reimbursement Report. —

The secretary of state shall establish a uniform report of receipt of an honoranurn or expense
reimbursement, which may be in paper or electronic form.
I. The report shall include at a minimum the following information, which shall be public:
(a) The full name, work address, work phone number, the of?ce, appointment, or employment held by
person subject to the reporting requirement.
(b) The full name, post office address, occupation, and principal place of business, if any, of the

source of my reportable honorarium or expense reimbursement. When the source is a corporation or

other entity, the name and work address of the person representing the corporation or entity in making
the honorarium or expense reimbursement must be provided in addition to the name of the
corporationor entity.
(c) The value of the honorarium or expense reimbursement. When the exact value is unknown, the

person ?ling the report shall provide an estimate of the value of the gift or honorarium and identify
the value as an estimate.
(d) A brief description of the service or event that gave rise to the honorarium or expense
reimbursement. Reports of expense reimbursement must include a copy of the agenda or an

equivalent document.
(e) The date on which the honorarium or expense reimbursement was received.
(0 The following statement followed by a line for the person ?ling the form to sign and date the form:
"I have read RSA 15-B and hereby swear or affirm that the foregoing information is true and
complete to the best of my knowledge and belief."
II. The secretary of state may also require information such as home phone numbers, home addresses,
and other information helpful to the administrationand enforcement of laws relating to honorariums
or expense reimbursements. This information shall be non-public and shall not be subject to the
provisions of RSA 91-A.

Source. 2006, 2l:9, eff. June 2, 2006.

Section 15-B:8

15-B:8 Forms; Place of Filing. — The secretary of state shall furnish all forms required under this
chapter. All persons filing a report under this chapter shall ?le with the secretary of state. The reports
shall be held in the original form for 6 years from the date of ?ling, after which time they may be
destroyed. The public information on the forms shall be available to the public in the form of a
photocopy or an electronic record. The secretary of state shall, as soon as is practical, implement an
electronic record keeping system that makes the public information in the reports required by this
chapter available to the public through the Internet.

Source. 2006, 21:9, eff. June 2, 2006.

Section 15-B:9

15-B29 Penalty. — Any person who knowingly fails to comply with the provisions of this chapter or

knowingly ?les a false report shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. It shall be an absolute defense in any
prosecution under this chapter that the person acted in reliance upon an advisory opinion on the
subject issued under RSA 14-B:3, I(c) or RSA 21-G230, I(c).

Source. 2006, 21:9. 2007, 194:3, eff. Jan. 1, 2008.

https://www.gencourtstate.nh.us/rsa/htrnl/I/15-B/l5-B-mrg.htm 7/3 0/2020

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 45 of 70



CHAPTER 15-B GIFTS, HONORARIUMS, AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS Page 5 of 5

Section 15-B:l0

15-B210 Examination of Reports. — It shall be the duty of the attorney general to examine the
reports which are made under this chapter to the secretary of state and to compel such returns be made
to comply with the law.

Source. 2006, 21:9, eff. June 2, 2006.

Section 15—B:11

15-13:11 Limitations. —

This chapter shall not be construed to:
I. Prevent receptions, breakfasts, luncheons, dinners, dances, or picnics or like events from being held
for the sole purpose of raising political contributions, provided such contributions comply with and
are reported as required by RSA 664.
II. Prohibit gifts or expense reimbursementsmade to the state of New Hampshire and accepted in
accordance with the law.

Source. 2006, 21:9, eff June 2, 2006.

Section 15-B:l2

15-B:l2 Severability. — If any provision ofthis chapter or the application thereof to any person or
circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the
chapter which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the
provisions of this chapter are declared to be severable.

Source. 2006, 21:9, eff. June 2, 2006.

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/I/l5-B/15-B-rnrg.htm 7/30/2020

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 46 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 47 of 70



10/28/2020

Town Council

Rules of Procedure

(c) Process for Town Council Debate

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 48 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 49 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 3
the Town Charter. Agenda items scheduled for a meeting that is canceled shall be
carried over to the next regular meeting.
Council members shall be seated in Council Chambers as determined by consensus of the
Council. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be seated at the head of the Council table in
Chambers. The Secretary shall be seated next to the Town Council Recording Clerk.
Council members, staff and members of the general public participating i.nmeetings shall
address all questions or remarks through the Chair con?ne their remarks to the merit of
pending questions; and shall not engage in personalities.
Any member may leave the Council Chambers while in regular session after notice to the
Chair of pressing business providing there is no loss of quorum as determined by the
Chair.

4. Town Employees
The Town Administrator will attend all regular meetings or request representation from aa.

Town Department to attend in their place,
b. The Town Administrator shall be responsible for providing the Council with necessary

background information on all items ofbusiness before the Council.
c. The Town Administrator may have the head of any department or division or other

employee of the Town in attendance at any meeting when items within their responsibility
or knowledge is being discussed. All questions shall be directed to the Town
Administrator who may, when necessary, defer to a department head or employee. Staff
should be made aware of all items on the agenda to be ready to discuss items in respect to
their department or area of responsibility.

5. Voting
a. Councilors may read suggested motions from staff reports to assure key elements of

motions do not get missed.
b. If a vote is immediate after a motion.the motion does not need to be repeated unless

requested by a Councilor or staff.
c. lf there is a discussion after a motion, the motion should be repeated prior to the vote of

the Council to assure all Councilors and the public are aware what is being voted on.
d. Every member present, including the Chair, when a question is put shall vote either aye

(yes) or nay (no) or abstain and give reason for abstaining, in accordance with the Town
Charter.

e. Council Members wishing to abstain from voting shall so indicate and give reason for
doing so.

f. All votes shall be voice votes unless determined to be a roll call vote.
g. Roll call Votes should be used anytime there is a motion based on 1) a public hearing item,

2) any monetary item over $10,000 and 3) at the request of any Councilor for any matter.
h. Roll call votes shall be in a random order with the Chair voting last.

6. Debate
a. Council members must raise their hand to be recognized by the Chair.
b. Rules ofDebate on all motions shall be as follows:

1. The council member, who introduces a motion, may speak to that motion.
Thereafter, every council member may speak to the motion two times only. The
sponsoring Council member may also address the motion two times, thereby
allowing the sponsor the right to address his or her their motion a total of three
times.

2. If by 2/3 vote it is determined additional discussion is needed each council
member may only speak an additional 2 times on a motion.

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 50 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 4

3. Decorum in debate: In order to assist in the carrying out of debate in an orderly

and productive manner, Councilmembers shall:

:3. Address all questions and remarks through the Chair. Do not address

audience or council members.
b. When commenting on another Councilor’s statement or question, identify

the speaker, statement and when the statement was made.

c. Con?ne remarks to the merits of the pending question.
d. Not engage in personalitiesor questionthe motives of other Councilors.

c. Any member who wishes to force an end to debate must first obtain the ?oor by being

duly recognized to speak by the chair and must then move the Previous Question.Such a

motion must be seconded, and then adopted by a two-thirds vote, or by unanimous

consent. It is not in order to interrupt a speaker with cries of “Question”or “Call the

question”, and even if no one is speaking, it is still necessary to seek recognition.

7. Order of Business

The Town Council shall follow the below agenda order whenever possible for ease of

transcription, audience participationand possible time restraints. The Council Chair, during the

Agenda Overview, will inform the audience of any change in the agenda order for a particular

meeting.

a. Agenda Order of Council Meetings
I. Call to Order

II. Proof ofPosting
III. Roll Call
IV. Pledge of Allegiance
V, Agenda Overview

VI. Public Hearings

VII. Special Recognitions
VIII. Scheduled Appointments

IX. Consent Agenda
X. Town Administrator’s Report

XI. Public Input
XII. Nominations/Appoinunents

XIII. Brief Recess

XIV. Old Business
XV. New Business

XVI. Approvalof Minutes
XVII. Subcommittee Reports

XVIII. Public Input
XIX. Non—PublicSession NH RSA 9l«A:3 II

XX Adjournment
b. PublicInput

1. Two I5-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council

Meeting. Time will be divided equally among those wishing to speak; however,

no person will be allowed to speak for more than 5 minutes.

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any meeting.

Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal or

derogatory about any other person.

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 51 of 70



10/28/2020

Town Council

Rules of Procedure

(d) Process of Tabling Items,

Rescinding Votes and Reconsideration
of Votes

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 52 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 53 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 9
Pu c H n tilted n ma condu these do N T rt
ngtg n union Lag; ). Eggbllihing run aqggmy smart Ulnk. Rgngmhg Tuwn Ro:d\lny§- (ex. Water wants Drive, Huoksell.NHtor the closed ott pumonlloop of

industrial Park Dr. that will be closed ottdue to the GE Expansion). Egtnnllal Degaggm ggmanlutiong

19. Talrling an agenda item
a. Any Councilor may make the motion to table.
b. Tabling is needed when more infom-ration on the subject matter is needed for the Council

to makea decision.
c. Tabling ofan agenda item should indicate the date certain of the next time the item is to

appear on the councils agenda and what inlbrrnalionthe Council is seeking at that
meeting.

d. Tabling an agenda item lakes precedence over any main motion not yet stated by the
Chair

e. When the item tabled is to be discussed again, Council first needs to make a motion In
remove from the table.

20. Rescinding oraprior vote

a. [fa motion is neededby the Council It) change a dollar amount for the same vendor, that
is an amendment lo ta prior vote not a rescindingoia prior vote.

b. lira motion is neededby the Council to change a Vendor from a prior votc, rescinding of
that prior vote is needed

c. Any Councilor may make the motion to rescind. whenever possible, have the section or
the Town Council minutes stating the original motion.

d. Any action, no mallet how old, may be rescinded.except where action has been taken that
cannot be undone

e. Revuklng is the same as rescinding.

Z1. Reconsideration of a prior vote
a. The reconsideration era vote can only be made at the same meeting or next calendar day

oi the original vote
b. A Councilor on the prevailing side orthe original vole can only make the motion Iu

reconsider
c. Negative vote may he reconsidered

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 54 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 55 of 70



10/28/2020

Town Council

Rules of Procedure

(e) Process for Town Council to receive
additional information after packet
received by Councilors and prior to or
at the meeting.

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 56 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 57 of 70



Town Council Rules of Procedures 6
restricts any Town Councilor from motioning to go into non—publicsession with the
appropriate citation.

b. The Council shall motion to exit in non—public.In public session a motion is made to seal
the minutes of the non-public session as appropriate.

c. Non-public sessions do not require motions to extend the meeting past 9-30pm.
d. A councilor not present at thc time non—publicscssion minutes are taken shall rcceive

these sealcd minutes along with the rest oflhe Council.
e. Non-public minutes, per RSA 91-A23, shall include lhe names of members, persons

appearing before the public bodies, and a brief description orthe subject matter discussed
and final decisions. Minutesare not verbatim.

f. Nnn-public minutes and/or mnteri in possession of Town Councilors at a Council
meeting shall be handed into Administrationat the end of the meeting for shredding of
con?dential information.

g. All sealed non-public meeting minutes (discussions and materials included) are
con?dential until such time these minutesare unsealed.

h. unscaling orthe non-public session minutes for the current ?scal year
(June 1“ to May 31“) shall occur annually at the councils last meeting in May when.in
the opinion ofa majority of members, the circumstancesthat sealed the minutes no longer. almlv in accordancewith RSA 91:} III.

9. Filing Agenda items
2:. Every item of business to come before the Council for action must be filed with the Town

Administrator or Council Chair no later than end of business two Thursdays prior to the
regular council Meeting.

b. The Agenda shall be posted by the close of businesson the Wednesday prior to the regular% Council Meeting.
c. It shall be the duty of the Town Administrator to mail by first class postage said agenda

and any available supporting documents to each Councilor (if not already piclrcdup) by
Thursday oithe week prior to the regular couneil Meeting unless a Councilor requests, in
writing, to receive it in electmnic tonnar only.

10 Addressingthe Council
3. Persons other than members of the Council shall not be pennitted to address thc Council

except during thc designated agenda Public Input or by invitation ofthe Chair.
h. A time limit for addressing the Council may be established by the Chair.
C4 The speaker shall not enter into a debate with any person, the Chair or Council members.

11. Amendment To Rulcs
a. Council rulcs may be suspended by a 2/3»majority vote of all Council members. The

purpose for suspension must be clearly stated before the vote is taken and 2/3 or all
council members must declare the matter one of such priority that it would be detrimental
to hold over unril the next regular Council Meeting.

b. The rules may be amended or new rulcs adopted by a 2/3 vote orall members of the
council. Any such proposed alteration or amendment by any Councilor shall be submitted
in writing at a regular council Meeting under the order ofnew business.

I I .Community Outreach
a. The Council Chair has the authority to not on the Council's behalf to present and/or sign

letters of achievement for community outreach to include but not limited to Town of
Hooksetl departments, businesses, residents, and volunteer or membership groups. This
authority is for times when the community outreach happens off-schedule to Town
Council meetings.

Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 58 of 70



Agenda Item #14.3.

Page 59 of 70



Page 60 of 70



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Cub Scout Pack 292 Little Library Project – Donation and Installation of Book 

Swap Boxes at Various Locations in Town  
Meeting: Town Council - 04 Nov 2020 
Department: Community Development 
Staff Contact: Bruce Thomas, Town Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Cub Scouts of Hooksett Pack 292 wish to donate three “Little Library” book swap boxes at 
various locations in town.  Three possible locations are: 
  

• Donati Park on Main Street 
• Fraser Park on K Avenue 
• The Heads Pond Trailhead 

  
The boxes are 2’ wide, by 2, 6” high by 1’9” deep.  They will sit on a 4” x 4” post such that the bottom 
of the boxes will be 3’3” off the ground. 
  
Photos included with the agenda package have been “photoshopped” to show potential locations of 
the boxes but the boxes have not been installed at this time. 
  
All work will be coordinated with the Town Engineer and/or Phil Armone from the Department of 
Public Works/Parks as appropriate. 
  
This donation to the Town of Hooksett including the cost of items and labor is not to exceed $5,000 in 
value per RSA 31:95-b III (b) and RSA RSA 31:95-e, II. 
  
Cub Scouts from Pack 292 will be available at the Town Council meeting to answer any questions 
you may have. 
  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
None 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
To accept three Little Library Project book swap boxes and to allow Cub Scout Pack 292 to install 
them at the locations in town as approved. 

Agenda Item #15.1.

Page 61 of 70



  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Motion to accept three Little Library Project book swap boxes and to allow Cub Scout Pack 292 to 
install them at the locations in town as approved and accept this donation to the Town of Hooksett 
including the cost of items and labor that does not exceed $5,000 in value per RSA 31:95-b III (b) and 
RSA RSA 31:95-e, II. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Concur 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
2 Hooksett Cub Scout Pack 292 Little Library Sketch 
LITTLE LIBRARY BOX AT DONATI PARK 
LITTLE LIBRARY BOX AT FRASER PARK 
LITTLE LIBRARY BOX AT HEADS POND TRAILHEAD 
PACK 292 SCOUTS WITH THEIR LITTLE LIBRARY BOXES 
 
 

Agenda Item #15.1.

Page 62 of 70



Little

Free Library

Hooksett Cub scout Pack 292 - Little Libraries

Scale 

1

2

" = 1'-0"

Typical installation

See supplemental info on exact locations

Front View Side View

3
'
-
3
"

5
'
-
9
"

2'-7 3/16"

2'-0"

1'-9"

4x4 PT post

24" deep hole filled with concrete

A
genda Item

 #15.1.

Page 63 of 70



Agenda Item #15.1.

Page 64 of 70



Agenda Item #15.1.

Page 65 of 70



Agenda Item #15.1.

Page 66 of 70



Agenda Item #15.1.

Page 67 of 70



Page 68 of 70



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Unassigned General Fund Balance History and Tax Rate 
Meeting: Town Council - 04 Nov 2020 
Department: Finance 
Staff Contact: Christine Soucie, Finance Director 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Attached is a history of the Unassigned General Fund Balance.  As of June 30, 2020 the Town had 
8.29% or $4,459,368.   
  
The Town's Unassigned Fund Balance Policy is to maintain a minimum balance of 5% with a target 
balance of 8%.  It is essential that the Town maintains an adequate level of unassigned fund balance 
to mitigate financial risk that can occur from emergencies and economic downturns.  
  
Large swings in the use of Unassigned Fund Balance from year to year can create a roller coster 
effect on the tax rate.  When possible I would recommend applying a consistent amount each year. 
  
We are still waiting on NH Department of Revenue to review information with regards to setting the 
Tax Rate. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
Unassigned fund balance used to off-set taxes lowers the tax rate.   
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Review and discuss the information provided by the finance Department regarding the use of 
unassigned fund balance and Hooksett's financial policy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
History of Unassigend Fund Balance 
 
 

Agenda Item #15.2.

Page 69 of 70



Town ofHooksett
Unassigned General Fund Balance History

Used to
Beginning ‘Current year Warrant Reduce Ending % of FB

Year Balance Increase Articles Tax Rate Balance Retained

2000 1,000,000 1,022,779 a (60,000) (1,302.779) 660,000 -

2001 660,000 1,195,605 - (1,355,605) 500,000 1.85%
2002 500,000 1,550,431 b (37,000) (1,050,431) 963,000 3.40%
2003 963,000 1,794,830 C (22,980) (1,334,850) 1,400,000 5.00%
2004 1,400,000 1,775,797 - (1,649,300) 1,526,497 5 00%
2005 1,526,497 1,504,609 - (1,600,000) 1,431,106 3 80%
2006 1,431,106 1,863,542 (3 (500,000) (1,350,000) 1,444,648 2 65%
2007 1,444,648 1,785,347 - (1,500,000) 1,729,995 4.90%
2008 1,729,995 1,867,302 - (1,500,000) 2,097,297 5.18%
2009 2,097,297 295,371 e (194,000) (875,000) 1,323,668 2 80%
2010 1,323,668 203,789 - (300,000) 1,227,457 3.12%
2011 1,227,457 802,977 — (260,000) 1,770,434 4.41%
2012 1,770,434 666,248 - - 2 436,682 6 00%
2013 2,436,682 733,354 - - 3,170,036 7 87%
2014 3,107,036 1,348,547 — (767,363) 3,688,220 8 00%
2015 3,688,220 1,575,465 - (1,647,814) 3,615,871 8.00%
2016 3.615,871 1,325,418 - (500,000) 4,441,289 9 34%
2017 4,441,289 1,384,377 1 (2,160,917) (1,000,000) 2,664,749 5 20%
2018 2,664,749 702,887 — (300,000) 3,067,636 618%
2019 3,067,636 1,356,133 ~ (1,385,094) 3,038,675 5 97%
2020 3,038,675 1,420,693 - 4,459,368 8 29%

‘ Current year increase are from actual revenues higher than estimated and expense lower than budgeted
and changes in overlay.

a — Warrant article #18 Transfer Station Front-End Loader Fund
b — Warrant article #13 Emergency Radio Communication System
C - Warrant article #32 Police Computer Development Fund
d ~ Warrant article #20 Renovation of Former Village School
e — Warrant article #8 8i 9 Town Bulldlflg maintenance ($130,000) and Martin Ferry Wall Repairs ($64,000).
f- Warrant article #8 Visionary Plan for Sewer and Other Infrastructure Improvements ($100,000) and

Emergency appropriation for Lilac Bridge ($2.060,917)

DRA's Guidance as stated on Surplus Retention form.
"Responsible long term financial planning requires an adequate level of general fund unreserved fund balance
to mitigate future risks and to ensure stable tax rates, The GFOA suggests municipalities retain between 8%
and 17% of regular general fund operating revenues or no less than 2 months of general fund operating
expenditures In NH, this is calculated by adding the municipa|ity‘s general fund operating appropriations, the
state education fax amount, the local school net tax commitment, and the county appropriations Based on
our best available information, the suggested levels for your municipalityfor 2020 would be.

5% $2,688,512 8% $4,301,619 10% $5,377,024 17% $9,140,941

FlNANCE\DR/-\Forms\Fund Balance history

Agenda Item #15.2.

Page 70 of 70


	Agenda
	6.1. 11042020 HEALTH SURPLUS FUNDS PH
	9.1. Staff Report - SR-20-203 - Pdf
	BJA-BVP Status

	14.1. Staff Report - SR-20-205 - Pdf
	2020 HEALTHTRUST Return of Surplus
	HealthTrust Board Resolution - Surplus of Funds
	NHIT FY END 2016 SURPLUS OF FUNDS

	14.3. Staff Report - SR-20-202 - Pdf
	TC Rules TC Approved 091119
	Rules of Procedure Title Pages

	15.1. Staff Report - SR-20-204 - Pdf
	2 Hooksett Cub Scout Pack 292 Little Library Sketch
	LITTLE LIBRARY BOX AT DONATI PARK
	LITTLE LIBRARY BOX AT FRASER PARK
	LITTLE LIBRARY BOX AT HEADS POND TRAILHEAD
	PACK 292 SCOUTS WITH THEIR LITTLE LIBRARY BOXES

	15.2. Staff Report - SR-20-206 - Pdf
	History of Unassigend Fund Balance


